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Jan Nelson, CEO of Xtract Resources commented: “In 2015 momentum continued and the team has
made significant progress to deliver on our 5-year plan of becoming profitable gold producer. We are 3 years
into this journey and are confident that we will deliver on our vision within the remaining 24 months. We
have resolved the flexibility issues at the Chepica mine and continue to invest capital to grow our production
profile. The Manica asset will allow us to realise significant cash flow that will enable us to execute on our
strategy and deliver shareholder value without any significant dilution”.
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Xtract Resources Plc (AIM:XTR) announces its final results for
the year ended 31 December 2015, a year in which the
Company achieved significant milestones in order to deliver
on its growth objectives and shareholder value.

Financial highlights
I Revenue received from concentrate £0.35m
(2014: £1.14m)
I Net loss of £4.58m (2014: £2.95m)
I Administrative and operating expenses of £2.43m
(2014: £2.34m)
I Project costs of £0.14m (2014: £0.21m)
I Cash of £3.76m (2014: £0.16m)
I Net assets of £7.55m (2014: £1.60m)

Operational highlights
I Acquired the Manica Gold project
I Successfully addressed flexibility problems at
Chepica Gold mine
I Raised equity and debt capital to advance all
projects
I Advanced Manica BFS on time and within schedule

Corporate highlights
I Strengthened management team
I Further strengthened strategic alliance with MTI

Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholder,
In 2015 momentum continued and the team has made significant progress to deliver on our 5-year plan of becoming a
profitable gold producer. We are 3 years into this journey and are confident that we will deliver on our vision within the
remaining 24 months. We have reviewed several projects in the period under review but I will focus on the Manica
project and Chepica mine as these in particular were expected to enable us to add value for shareholders through capital
appreciation and physical gold production.
On 29 June 2015 Xtract announced the acquisition of the Manica gold project in Mozambique from Auroch, an Australian
listed Company. The acquisition was by cash and shares with a total consideration of US$12.5 million. The preliminary
figures produced by Auroch suggested that the mine could produce revenues of some US$55 million per annum with pay
back taking less than 3 years. The total life of the project was expected to be 8 years of which half would be from surface
mining and half from underground. During the period under review the Company made certain revisions to the deal
structure as it carried out further due diligence with a view to optimising metallurgy and extending mine life. The Company
has sought to add value to the Manica project throughout the time of its ownership. As part of the funding for the
acquisition Xtract raised a total of £4.4 million at 0.3p per ordinary share.
The Company recognised that there was an opportunity for alluvial gold to be mined as a separate venture and
consequently on the 20 October 2015 Xtract entered into an agreement with MTI to work a separate project on a joint
venture basis which would come into effect upon completion of the transaction. In essence the project required that MTI
finance the capital for the plant whilst Xtract operate the plant and provide funding for such operation. It is envisaged that
any profits from the operation will be shared on an equal basis between MTI and Xtract. This agreement was considered
in the best interest of Xtract since no new capital had to be found and that the alluvial material would have to be removed
in any case to access the proposed open pit workings.
The Chepica mine progressed albeit not without some technical challenges and sadly a fatal accident in December 2015
resulted in two fatalities at the mine. The Board and Management were greatly saddened by this incident and for the
families and loved ones of the deceased. Following an independent review, the Company was exonerated for any blame
or liability in connection with the tragic deaths.
The technical challenges at the Chepica mine have been in maintaining sufficient development tunnels in order to supply
feed to the processing plant at the required rate. The objective throughout has been to proceed to stoping, i.e. three
dimensional mining, as soon as possible. Mine planning required forward knowledge of the gold grades that would be
worked during the next five year plan. To this end we embarked on a surface drilling programme which identified and
delineated continuing reef systems particularly at the Colin mine.
The progress made in improving mining flexibility and building up volume from underground was addressed in the period
under review and represents a significant milestone in the development of the mine. The progress made at Chepica was
temporarily impacted by the stoppage of the plant due to the reported fatalities, although the mine is now delivering
forecasted gold grades as the team has resolved the issues in getting the recoveries in the plant back to the required levels.
The team is committed to continuing to improve recoveries and good inroads are being made in this regard.
My previous reports have spoken much about the very difficult financing circumstances, commodity prices and poor
shareholder perception to natural resource companies of any size. We sense a renaissance within our sector and the
Board feels that we must be in a position to take advantage of what might be a very short turn around in prospects. For
the last five years we have lived in an environment of too many projects and no money. We believe by this time next
year or earlier there will be a reversal whereby funding will become available and project flow will dry up.
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In May 2016 the Board received an offer from MTI to purchase the entire Manica project for a cash sum of US$17.5 million,
subject to due diligence. On 25 May 2016, the Board, after due and careful consideration, accepted the offer. The prime
reason for the decision is that a strong cash position will allow Xtract to take best advantage of current opportunities in
the mining resource space which may not be available or affordable by the year end. Whilst the Board has considerable
confidence in the Manica project there is a consensus opinion that such a cash offer will take the Company into an arena
of better earnings and prospects consistent with the expertise of the Board and Management.
Finally I would like to thank all of my fellow Directors and Management for their tenacity and sterling work during the
period under review up to the point of issuing this annual report.

Colin Bird
Non-Executive Chairman
6 June 2016
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Strategic Report
Writing a strategic review to shareholders for the period ending December 2015 is always challenging as a lot has
happened at Xtract since the period end. As a result, starting with a review of what has transpired without giving some
perspective would not do this annual report or shareholders justice. Therefore I am going to start this report with my view
of the future before I put our activities for the year into perspective.

The future – where are we going?
There are a number of systemic issues that face a junior mining company such as Xtract. It is important for all our
stakeholders to understand these issues, as it is these very issues that impact our current and future performance and
therefore shape our strategic compass. The bottom line is that we will not realise our vision if these issues are not
navigated. Strategy is ultimately about choice as we adapt to realise shareholder value. The timing of when we realise
certain deliverables is also influenced by these issues and in turn effect share price and market capitalisation.
The first issue is, how do we buy an asset? When building a junior mining company such as Xtract from a position where
there are no assets in the Company, the only commodity that we have to trade is our shares. Shares are issued to acquire
assets (as a junior normally does not have cash in the bank to buy anything) and then these assets need cash to be
operated and developed. This means the company issues more shares to have enough working capital to get to steady
state production. Adequate working capital is the second issue that is important. Without enough working capital wrong
decisions can often be taken at an operational level.
The third issue is single asset risk. Having only one asset means that all one’s eggs are in one basket and if something
goes wrong then the entire company is at risk. Not every project that is developed becomes a success. One normally cycles
through a few projects before one becomes a success. Therefore the Company normally is focused on acquiring more than
one project or asset to address this problem. This is obviously done without losing focus. Unfortunately this once again
leads to the issue of more shares.
The fourth issue is that of operational set-backs and timing. Despite management’s best endeavours things do go wrong
from time to time that impacts on production delivery. This influences cash flow and therefore requires the company to
come to market from time to time to issue more shares to address such cash crunches.
Issuing shares causes dilution to existing shareholders, which is typically not well received. To make matters worse,
placing shares for cash can often be carried out at a discount to the current share price. The fourth issue is therefore
growth (either operational or capital). Share price dilution can only be absorbed if there is growth over a certain period
of time.
In addition to these internal issues the Company also faces external issues such as fluctuation in commodity prices and
global market forces that impact on revenue realised from production. External forces also impact the share price especially
in the case of a fluctuation in the gold price.
In summary, it is the Board’s responsibility to manage risk and navigate the following key issues that ensure that the
business remains viable:
Issue

Approach to mitigate risk

Single asset risk
Working capital
Growth

Acquisition of other assets
Combination of debt and equity finance
Re-cycling assets

All of this takes place within a certain time period which guides our shareholders as to how much they are willing to invest
(their risk appetite) and what their expectation is in terms of how long before they realise return on their investment.
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Management must be allowed the flexibility to make certain decisions relating to the issues mentioned above to ultimately
arrive at a point where a certain level of shareholder value is returned. Shareholders must also remember that as long
as management successfully navigates the issues above, shareholder value is created. This might not be evident
immediately or in the short term in for example share price appreciation but it will unlock returns over the medium to
long term.
Xtract is building a junior gold mining house that will be profitable and be able to fund its future growth. We have not
arrived at this point yet but have made considerable progress in getting to this point. A mining company is not built in
one year and we have set ourselves a period of 5 years to achieve this. We started this journey in June of 2013 under
my leadership and are now 3 years along the path of reaching the goal we set ourselves. This means we have only
another 24 months to get to achieving our vision and reaching our destination.
I am confident that we will achieve our objectives and the operational summary that follows will clearly map out what
has been done to reach our end goal.
2015 was a transitional year for Xtract, one in which we acquired a significant project with the acquisition of the Manica
Gold Project in Mozambique and addressed the significant challenges presented to us at Chepica Gold and Copper Mine
in Chile. Committed to our strategy we evaluated the copper opportunity at O’Kiep and Carolusberg, which did not meet
with our stringent criteria for our acquisition strategy and so elected not to proceed with the acquisition having completed
a detailed evaluation of the project.

Manica Gold Project, Mozambique
The Board was delighted to sign an agreement in June 2015, to conditionally acquire the Manica gold project in
Mozambique from Auroch Minerals NL, an ASX listed Company. The acquisition was approved by Auroch shareholders in
October 2015 and completed in March 2016, when Xtract received approval from the Mozambican mining authorities.
The project was expected to deliver 50koz of gold production when in production, at a cash cost of US$549/oz and has
excellent infrastructure. At the time of signing the deal, the project had a JORC Compliant resource of 900koz (9.5Mt
@3.01g/t in situ, which has increased to 1.257moz (17.3Mt @2.26g/t) following the independent technical report,
completed by Minxcon (Pty) Ltd in May 2016.
The BFS remains on track to be completed within Q2 of 2016.

Manica Alluvial Gold Project
Part of the Manica project included the Manica Alluvial Gold Project, and in October 2015 we signed a Joint Venture
Agreement (‘JV’) with Mineral Technologies International Limited (‘MTI’) to mine the alluvial project, which it expects will
produce c32,000oz gold per annum (16,000oz gold per annum attributable to Xtract).
Importantly, MTI will fund the construction of the alluvial gold plant, and Xtract will operate the plant. Gold produced will
be attributed on a 50:50 basis and Xtract was to be responsible for the operating costs of the project.

Sale of Manica Gold Project – Post reporting period
Post the reporting period the Board accepted an offer to sell the Manica asset for US$17,500,000 subject to certain
conditions being met. The decision to sell this asset enables the Company to more quickly realise capital growth from the
asset without having to raise significant equity or debt capital and therefore incurring significant dilution. Manica represent
an example of how management has added value to the project in a very short period of time and have recycled it to
acquire other assets that will allow us to realise our vision within 24 months. Should the sale not go through the Board
has an alternative strategy that will allow the Company to continue to develop the asset without dilution to shareholders.
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Chepica Gold and Copper project, Chile
Development at Chepica gained good momentum in the first half of 2015, with operations team working strategically in
order to create mining flexibility in addition to appointing a contract mining team which led to improved efficiencies and
lower operating costs.
Over the next few months, development work accelerated, which led to several discoveries of new gold bearing reefs
including two at the Salvadori prospect, in March and May, and the Colin prospect in June.
Production continued to build steadily and in April the milling capacity at Chepica was increased to 10,000 t/month
following the installation and commissioning of a new ball mill and the upgrade of the two existing mills.
In April, gold grades increased ten-fold, to over 400g/t, as ore from Salvadori II was processed.
We were pleased to renegotiate the earn-in option agreement on Chepica, with payment schedule deferred, and the
renegotiation of the option payments remains ongoing.
On and off reef development was increased in June, with two additional reefs developed for stoping
Due to major earthquake activity on 17 September 2015 (Santiago, 250km north of the mine, was affected by a magnitude
8.3 earthquake) the main access haulage at the Chepica Main prospect was submitted to major stress. Management took
the decision that the haulage was unsafe and could not be used or re-supported and, put plans in place to re-develop a
new haulage to access the ore-body from a different position.
Safety remains a priority and the impact of this was that the main areas ready for stoping would only be accessed in late
December.
It was with great sadness that we had to report two fatal accidents, which occurred on surface at Chepica in December
2015 and our thoughts and support remain with the families.
The Company temporarily shut down the processing plant whilst a risk assessment was carried out. The Inspectors of both
Mines and Works were required to sign off on the changes implemented as a result of the risk assessment. Sign off came
in early February 2016, following which the processing plant was restarted. This inevitably impacted production in Q1 2016,
and the project was expected to mill c30,000 tonnes in Q2 2016 as it got back on track to achieving its production targets.
The issue of flexibility with regard to volume at the mine has been resolved and we are now generating enough rock
from underground to feed the mills at a rate of 10,000 tons per month.
The grade at the mine is also running at expected levels. Recoveries at the mine remains problematic and is one of the
key issues we are focusing on at the current time.

O’Kiep and Concordia Copper Tailings Projects, South Africa
In March 2015, we signed a Deed of Assignment with Mineral Technologies International (“MTI”) for an option to acquire
the O’Kiep sulphide copper tailings project in the Northern Cape Province of South Africa. The Deed of Assignment was
renegotiated in May resulting in a reduced cash payment of US$2.875m, saving 19% of the total consideration due. The
terms included the issue of 69,752,768 new ordinary shares of 0.01p to the value of c.US$375,000.
On 3 February, 2016 the Company announced that it had received the results from the metallurgical and recovery test
laboratory and following a detailed evaluation, concluded that the recoveries are too low to produce a viable copper
concentrate. The Board therefore elected not to move ahead with the tailings project and there would be no further
liabilities or costs incurred in respect of O’Kiep and Carolusberg.

Funding
In 2015, Xtract raised a total of £9.15 million through three Placings in the first half of the year:
G

In March, the Company raised £1.75m at 0.15p which enabled underground development work to accelerate at
Chepica.
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G

In May, a second fund raising was completed raising £3.0m at 0.25p, which enabled Xtract to make progress with
its acquisition strategy as well as for ongoing development at Chepica. In addition, Xtract was able to repay the
outstanding balance of its loan agreement with YA Global Master.

G

The third placing was completed in June, raising £4.4m at 0.30p, which was raised as part of the consideration for
the Manica acquisition.

Business Review
The Company evaluates new exploration and appraisal opportunities continually, including businesses and projects in
precious and base metals.
The Company is required by the Companies Act 2006 to include a business review in this report. The information that fulfils
the requirements can be found within this Strategic Report. The Business Review contains certain forward-looking
statements which have been made by the directors in good faith based on information available to them at the date of
this report. These statements may be affected by the factors outlined in the Risks and Uncertainties section of this report.
Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in note 30 to the financial statements.

Performance
The key indication of performance of the Group is the extent of its success in identifying, acquiring, progressing and
divesting investments in projects so as to build shareholder value. At this stage in its development, the Group’s
performance is not readily measured using quantitative key performance indicators. However, a qualitative summary of
performance in the period is provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Strategic Report.

Financial Review
Financial Summary Table
Year ended
31 December
2015
(£million)

Consolidated income resulting from continuing operations
Concentrate Revenue
Less: Cost of Sales
Administrative and operating expenses
Project costs
Other gains/(losses)
Impairment of Intangible assets
(Loss) after tax
(Loss) per share
Consolidated balance sheet position
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Assets available for sale
Cash
Total assets
Total equity
Total equity – number of issued shares

Xtract Resources PLC Annual Report 2015

0.35
(0.28)
(2.43)
(0.15)
0.61
(2.22)
(4.58)
(0.07)p
4.99
1.31
—
3.76
11.85
7.55
8,603,503,521 shares

Year ended
31 December
2014
(£million)

1.14
(0.91)
(2.34)
(0.21)
—
—
(2.95)
(0.09)p
4.63
1.20
0.57
0.16
7.63
1.60
3,830,599,981 shares
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Income Statement Analysis
The Group reported a net loss after tax from continuing operations of £4.58 million (2014: £2.95 million) and basic loss
per share of 0.07p (2014: basic loss per share of 0.09p). The Group generated income of £0.35 million (2014: £1.14 million)
from the Chepica mine and after cost of sales of £0.28 million, (2014: £0.91 million) achieved a gross profit of £0.06 million
(2014: £0.23 million). Due to the increased level of the Group’s activities, administrative expenses from continuing
operations amounted to £2.43 million (2014: £2.34 million) and non-administrative project costs amounted to
£0.15 million (2014: £0.21 million). There were other gains from continuing operations during the year amounting to
£0.61 million (2014: gain of £Nil million). Finance costs, amounted £0.37 million (2014: £0.64 million), of which
£0.28 million was due to unrealised exchange losses (2014: £0.17 million).

Investment Activity
During the year the Group disposed of the Mejillones phosphate deposit with total proceeds amounting to £0.38 million.
The Group invested £0.94 million on its O’Kiep Copper Tailings Project in the Northern Cape Province in South Africa.

Cash Position
The Group’s net cash position at 31 December 2015 was £3.76 million (2014: £0.16 million) with no outstanding
borrowings under a Loan Note Agreement with YA Global Master SPV Ltd (“YAGM”) (2014: £0.46 million) (US$0.72 million)
outstanding borrowings under a Loan Note Agreement with YAGM).
At 31 December 2015 the Company had additional borrowing facilities of up to a further £2.67 million (US$3.95million)
as may be required. The facility comprises of a Standby Equity Distribution (“SEDA”) backed loan entered into with YAGM.
The original SEDA was entered into by the Company in September 2011 and provided a funding in the form of an Equity
Line Facility. Further details are given in note 22.

Share Capital
In March 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £1.75 million. An
additional 1,166,666,667 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.15p per ordinary share.
In April 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £3 million. An additional
1,200,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.25p per ordinary share.
In May 2015, the Company drew down £465k on its SEDA which resulted in the issuance of an additional 149,253,731
ordinary shares at a price of 0.312p per ordinary share.
In May 2015, the Company issued a total of 228,624,551 ordinary shares for a total consideration of £161k through the
exercise of broker warrants.
In May 2015, The Company issued 69,752,768 ordinary shares at a price of 0.332p per ordinary share to Mineral Technology
International, for a total consideration of £238k as a payment towards acquisition of the O’Kiep Copper Sulphide tailings
project in the Northern Cape province of South Africa.
In July 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £4.4 million. An additional
1,466,666,665 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.30p per ordinary share.
In July 2015, the Company issued a further 491,939,159 ordinary shares to Mineral Technology International at a price of
0.0032p per ordinary share for a total consideration of £1,611k as a final payment towards the O’Kiep Copper Sulphide
tailings project.
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Environmental Responsibility
The Company recognises that the Group’s operations require it to have regard to the potential impact these activities may
have on the environment. Wherever possible, the Company also ensures that all related companies are encouraged to
comply with the local regulatory requirements with regard to the environment.

Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks facing the Company are set out below. Risk assessment and evaluation is an essential part of the
Group’s planning and an important aspect of the Group’s internal control system.

General and Economic Risks:
G

Contractions in the world economies or increases in the rate of inflation resulting from international conditions;

G

Movements in the equity and share markets in the United Kingdom and throughout the world;

G

Movements in global equity and share markets and changes in market sentiment towards the resource industry;

G

Currency exchange rate fluctuations and, in particular, the relative prices of the US Dollar, Chilean Pesos and the UK
Pound;

G

Adverse changes in factors affecting the success of exploration and development and mining operations, such as
increases in expenses, changes in government policy and further regulation of the industry; unforeseen major failure,
breakdowns or repairs required to key items of plant and equipment resulting in significant delays, notwithstanding
regular programmes of repair, maintenance and upkeep; and unforeseen adverse geological factors or prolonged
weather conditions.

Funding Risk:
G

Xtract Resources PLC may not be able to raise, either by debt or further equity, sufficient funds to enable completion
of planned exploration, investment and/or development projects.

Commodity Risk:
G

Commodities are subject to high levels of volatility in price and demand. The price of commodities depends on a
wide range of factors, most of which are outside the control of the Company. Production costs depend on a wide
range of factors, including commodity prices, capital and operating costs in relation to any operational site.

Exploration and Development Risks:
G

Exploration and development activity is subject to numerous risks, including failure to achieve estimated mineral
resource, recovery and production rates and capital and operating costs;

G

Success in identifying economically recoverable reserves can never be guaranteed. The Company also cannot
guarantee that the companies in which it has invested will be able to obtain the necessary permits and approvals
required for development of their projects;

G

Some of the countries in which the Company operates have native title law which could affect exploration activities;

G

The companies in which the Company has an interest may be required to undertake clean-up programmes resulting
from any contamination from their operations or to participate in site rehabilitation programmes which may vary
from country to country. The Group’s policy is to follow all necessary laws and regulations and it is not aware of any
present material issues in this regard.
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Relations with Shareholders
The Board is committed to providing effective communication with the shareholders of the Company, with significant
developments disseminated through stock exchange announcements. The Board regards the annual general meeting as
a forum for communication between the Company and its shareholders and encourages shareholders participation in its
agenda.

Outlook
We have resolved both the volume and grade problems at the Chepica Mine. Drilling has shown that we have multiple
reef systems along strike with a considerable down dip extent. We are almost on reef at the Chepica main adit that we
had to re-develop after the earthquake. We have therefore successfully resolved the flexibility issues at the mine and have
built the production profile up after the two fatalities that stopped production for almost 3 months. Getting back to the
required recoveries in the plant is the last issue we are in the process of resolving at the mine. Despite this we continued
to fund all our activities at the mine and advance the completion of the BFS at Manica.
The offer for Manica post period will allow us to strengthen the balance sheet considerably and allow significant capital
growth that combined with production growth from the Chepica mine will allow us to achieve our stated strategy of
becoming a profitable gold mining company within the remaining 24 months we have set ourselves.
At the same time we address all the issues mentioned at the beginning of this strategic report that will ensure that the
business is able to mitigate all internal and external issues and realise shareholder value.
In addition the Board has put in place several alternative plans should the Manica sale not realise as is expected that will
allow us to achieve the same result but with slight changes.
We are therefore well positioned to create value for our shareholders. In addition the cash from the sale of Manica will
allow the Company to capitalise on potential opportunities to add to Xtract’s production profile in the future.
I look forward to an exciting year for the Company.
Thank you to our team and shareholders for your support.
Yours sincerely,

Jan Nelson
Chief Executive Officer
6 June 2016
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Report of the Directors
The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and auditor’s report,
for the year ended 31 December 2015. The Corporate Governance Statement is set out on page 17 and forms part of this
report.

Going Concern
These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis which the Directors believe appropriate
as referred to in note 3 of the financial statements.

Capital Structure
Details of the Company’s share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital
during the year are shown in note 24. The Company has one class of ordinary share and one class of deferred share. No
person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid and carry no
right to fixed income.
There are no specific restrictions on the size of holding or on the transfer of the ordinary shares. The directors are not aware
of any agreements between shareholders of the Company’s ordinary shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer
of securities or on voting rights.
The deferred shares have certain rights and are subject to certain restrictions. Inter alia, the deferred shares do not carry
any entitlement to dividends or to participate in any way in the income or profits of the Company, do not confer on the
holders thereof any entitlement to receive notice of or to attend or speak at or vote at any general meeting of the
Company and shall not be capable of transfer at any time other than with the prior consent of each of the Directors.
Under its Articles of Association, the Company had authority to issue up to 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares. Pursuant to the
Companies Act 2006 and with effect from 1 October 2009, the requirement for a Company to have an authorised share
capital has been abolished and the new Articles which the Company adopted at the 2009 AGM reflect this. However, there
are certain restrictions as to the number of shares that can be allotted in terms of the Companies Act 2006.

Results and Dividends
The net loss for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounts to £4,575K (2014: £2,949K). No dividends were
paid or proposed by the Directors in either the current or previous year.

Directors
The Directors of the Company who held Office during the year are as follows:
G

Colin Bird

G

Jan Nelson

G

Joel Silberstein

G

Peter Moir

Colin Bird, Non-Executive Chairman (member of audit, remuneration, nomination and technical committees)
Colin is a chartered mining engineer with multi commodity mine management experience in Africa, Spain, Latin America
and the Middle East. He has been the prime mover in a number of public listings in the UK, Canada and South Africa and
is currently Chief Executive Officer of Tiger Resource Finance PLC, Executive Chairman of AIM quoted Galileo Resource PLC
and non-Executive Chairman of Jubilee Platinum PLC.
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Jan Nelson, Chief Executive Officer (member of technical, safety, health and environment and nomination
committees)
After obtaining his Honours degree in Geology, Jan embarked on a career in gold exploration and mining in South Africa,
Zimbabwe and Tanzania. He has over 15 years’ experience in the mining industry more recently as CEO of Pan African
Resources PLC, where he was responsible for transforming the Company from an exploration vehicle with little cash
resources to a 200,000oz per annum low cost, high grade, dividend paying precious metal mining Company. Prior to this
Jan held positions in mine management and operations with Harmony Gold Mining Company Limited and Gold Fields
Limited. Jan was appointed CEO of Xtract in May 2013.

Joel Silberstein, Finance Director
Joel joined the Company as Chief Financial Officer in June 2013. Prior to this Joel held the position of Group Controller and
Vice President Finance of Toronto Stock Exchange quoted European Goldfields Limited, where he supported the executive
team in growing a mining concern from exploration through development phases until the Company was taken over by
Eldorado Gold Corporation. He has an Honours Bachelor of Accounting Science degree from the University of South Africa
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Mazars, Cape Town in 2002. Joel was appointed to the Board as Finance
Director on 25 February 2014.

Peter Moir, Non-executive Director (member of audit, remuneration and nomination committees)
Peter’s qualifications include BSc Civil Engineering and MEng Petroleum Engineering. He is a Chartered Engineer in the UK
and has more than 30 years’ experience in technical, operational and commercial aspects of the Exploration and Production
business.

Retirement by Rotation
In compliance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Peter Moir will retire by rotation at the Company’s forthcoming
Annual General Meeting, and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

Directors’ Remuneration
The Company aims to remunerate the Directors at a level commensurate with the size of the Company and their
experience. During the year, the Remuneration Committee consisted of Colin Bird and Peter Moir.
The total remuneration paid to the directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 was £323K (2014:
£315K). The remuneration for the highest paid director for the year ended 31 December 2015 was £138K (2014: £120K).

Director

Peter Moir
Joel Silberstein
Colin Bird
Jan Nelson
*
**
***
+

14

Annual salary
for the year to
31 December 2015

40,000*
105,000
40,000*
138,000

Annual salary
for the year to
31 December 2014

60,000***
75,000**+
60,000***
120,000**

Outstanding total of £37.5k for P Moir (£12.5K relating to 2015) and £95K for C Bird (£20K relating to 2015) as at 31 December 2015
Outstanding total of £5k for J Nelson and £22.5k for J Silberstein as at 31 December 2014
Outstanding total of £25K for P Moir and £90K for C Bird (£25k relating to 2014) as at 31 December 2014
From date of appointment (25 February 2014)
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Report of the Directors
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In addition, the Directors hold share options as set out below.

Directors’ Interests
The Directors who held office at 31 December 2015 have the following interests in the Company:
31 December 2015

Peter Moir
Colin Bird
Jan Nelson
Joel Silberstein

31 December 2014

Ordinary shares

Options

Ordinary shares

Options

8,000,000
89,706,897
1,753,737
—

—
—
50,000,000
20,000,000

8,000,000
86,206,897
—
—

13,912,500
—
50,000,000
20,000,000

No Director held any interest in any of the Company’s subsidiaries at the beginning (or, if later, the date of their
appointment) or the end of the year.
Further details of the share options and warrants in the Company can be found in note 27 of the Financial Statements.

Directors’ Indemnities
The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made
during the year and these remain in force at the date of this report.

Directors’ Service Contracts
Directors’ contracts are continuous until terminated by either party upon six months’ notice for Executive Directors and
three months’ notice for Non-Executive Directors. In accordance with the Company’s Articles, at the forthcoming Annual
General Meetings at least one third of the Directors are required to resign by rotation.

Corporate Governance
A report on corporate governance is provided on page 17.

General Meeting
The Company will hold a general meeting on 30 June 2016 to lay the annual accounts before the shareholders and to
deal with any other business for the consideration of the shareholders. The notice of the meeting with full details of the
business to be considered thereat is included in the document.

Xtract Resources PLC Annual Report 2015
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Report of the Directors
CONTINUED

Auditors
Each of the persons who are a Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report confirms that:
G

so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware;
and

G

the Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act
2006.
A resolution to re-appoint Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.
By Order of the Board

Jan Nelson
Chief Executive Officer
6 June 2016
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Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance Practices
The Company has not adopted a specific corporate governance code. However, the board recognises the importance of
sound corporate governance commensurate with the size of the Company and the interests of shareholders and considers
that its current corporate governance practices are appropriate for a Company of its current size. In this regard it has established
systems of accountability and control through its corporate governance framework, has in place appropriate guidance, training,
policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the UK Bribery Act and has adopted a Share Dealing Practice which
applies to directors, senior management and any employee who is in possession of inside information. The roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer are separate and the Company is currently managed by two Executive Directors.

Board of Directors and Board Committees
The board is responsible for approving Company policy and strategy, holds regular board meetings and is supplied with
appropriate and timely information in order to discharge its duties. The board has established appropriately constituted Audit,
Nomination, Remuneration, Safety, Health and Environment and Technical committees with formally designated
responsibilities.
The board and its committees are supplied with full and timely information, including detailed financial information, to
enable the directors to discharge their responsibilities. All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. Independent professional advice is also available to directors in appropriate circumstances.

Service Contracts
The Chief Executive Officer and Finance Director have service contracts with 6 month notice periods. Non-executive directors
have formal letters of appointment setting out their duties and responsibilities with 3 month notice periods.

Relations with Shareholders
The Company fully values the views of its shareholders and is committed to maintaining the highest standards of disclosure
ensuring that all investors and potential investors have the same access to high quality, relevant information in an accessible
and timely manner to assist them in making informed decisions. Members of the Board attempt to regularly meet with
investors, brokers and other institutions, to inform them of the objectives of the Group. The Board also regards the AGM as
a forum for communication between the Company and its shareholders and are encouraged to ask questions. The Company
operates and updates its website www.xtractresources.com, uploading recent investor presentations, operational information
and financial reports in a timely manner.

Internal Control
The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholder’s
investment and the Company’s assets. These internal controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance to users and
stakeholders regarding the reliability of the Group financial statements. Inherent limitations in control systems mean that only
reasonable and not absolute assurance can be provided against material misstatement or loss.
Taking account of the size and account of the nature of the Group, the board has implemented processes for identifying and
evaluating the key operational, financial and compliance risks facing the Group. Under the direction of the Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Finance Director and with guidance from the non-executive Director, this process continues to evolve
as the Group grows in size. Where weaknesses are identified, appropriate measures are made to the control systems.
By order of the Board

Jan Nelson
Chief Executive Officer
6 June 2016
Xtract Resources PLC Annual Report 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TO THE MEMBERS OF XTRACT RESOURCES PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Xtract Resources Plc for the year ended 31 December 2015 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Parent
Company Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes numbered 1 to 30.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements,
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report and
any other surround information to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired
by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
G

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as
at 31 December 2015 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

G

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union;

G

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

G

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

18
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Emphasis of matter – Going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosure made in note 3 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
group incurred a net loss of £4.6m during the year ended 31 December 2015 and, as the Group’s assets are not currently
generating significant revenues, the Directors anticipate net operating cash outflows for the next twelve months. These
conditions, along with the other matters explained in note 3 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you
if, in our opinion:
G

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

G

the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

G

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

G

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Leo Malkin
Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Statutory Auditor
London
6 June 2016
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Consolidated Income Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
Registered number: 5267047

Note

Continuing operations
Concentrate Revenue
Less: Cost of sales

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

350
(288)

1,144
(910)

62
(2,426)
(147)

234
(2,343)
(205)

(2,511)
610
(371)
(2,217)
(86)

(2,314)
—
(635)
—
—

(4,575)

(2,949)

(4,575)

(2,949)

(Loss) for the period

(4,575)

(2,949)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

(4,575)

(2,949)

(4,575)

(2,949)

(0.07)

(0.09)

(0.07)

(0.09)

(0.07)

(0.09)

(0.07)

(0.09)

5

Gross Profit:
Administrative and operating expenses
Project expenses
Operating loss
Other gains and (losses)
Finance (cost)/income
Impairment of Intangible assets
Impairment of Financial asset available for sale

6
14

(Loss)/profit before tax
(Loss)/profit for the period from continuing operations

8

Net (loss)/profit per share
Continuing
Basic (pence)

13

Continuing
Diluted (pence)

13

The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Group
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

(Loss) for the year

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

(4,575)

(2,949)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Gains on revaluation of available-for-sale investment taken to equity
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(483)
167

(828)
(2)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

(316)

(830)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

(4,891)

(3,779)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent

(4,891)

(3,779)

(4,891)

(3,779)

The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Group

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant & equipment
Investment in subsidiary
Financial assets available for sale
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Inventories
Cash and cash equivalents

Note

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

14
15
16
17

4,992
1,309
—
—

4,632
1,195
—
570

—
—
1,808
—

—
—
1,808
570

6,301

6,397

1,808

2,378

1,744
—
45
3,763

1,031
36
—
163

1,630
—
—
3,693

63
36
—
164

5,552

1,230

5,323

263

11,853

7,627

7,131

2,641

3,555
—
—

3,719
462
—

536
—
8,491

901
462
9,953

3,555

4,181

9,027

11,316

1,997

(2,951)

(3,704)

(11,053)

18
20
19

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing
Amounts due to subsidiaries

22
22
22

Net current assets/(liabilities)
Non-current liabilities
Other payables
Provisions
Reclamation and mine closure provision

Company

312
167
266

1,500
81
266

—
—
—

—
—
—

Total liabilities

4,300

6,028

9,027

11,316

Net assets/(liabilities)

7,553

1,599

(1,896)

(8,675)

2,253
48,688
500
440
—
(229)
(44,099)

1,776
38,742
205
591
483
(396)
(39,802)

2,253
48,688
500
440
—
—
(53,777)

1,776
38,742
205
591
483
—
(50,472)

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent

7,553

1,599

(1,896)

(8,675)

Total equity

7,553

1,599

(1,896)

(8,675)

Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Warrant reserve
Share-based payments reserve
Available-for-sale reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Accumulated losses

23
23
23

24
25
25
25
25

The financial statements of Xtract Resources PLC, registered number 5267047, were approved by the Board of Directors
and authorised for issue. It was signed on behalf of the Company by:
Joel Silberstein
Director
6 June 2016
The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Group

Note

As at 1 January 2014

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year
Forex currency translation
Differences
Revaluation of availablefor-sale investments

17

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Issue of shares
Share based payment expense
Expiry of share options
Issue of warrants

27
27

As at 31 December 2014

Comprehensive income
Loss for the year
Forex currency translation
difference
Revaluation of availablefor-sale investments

17

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Issue of shares
Share based payment expense
Expiry of share options
Exercise of warrants
Issue of warrants

24
27
27
27

As at 31 December 2015

Warrant
reserve
£’000

Share
based
payments
reserve
£’000

Availablefor-sale
reserve
£’000

35,905

109

834

1,311

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2)

—

(2)

—

—

—

—

(828)

—

—

(828)

—

—

—

—

(828)

(2)

149
—
—
—

2,837
—
—
—

—
—
—
96

1,776

38,742

205

591

483

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

167

—

167

—

—

—

—

(483)

—

—

(483)

—

—

—

—

(483)

167

Share
Capital
£’000

Share
premium
account
£’000

1,627

454
—
—
23
—
2,253

10,264
—
—
138
(456)
48,688

—
29
(272)
—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
(161)
456

—
127
(278)
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

500

440

—

Foreign
currency
translation Accumulated
reserve
losses
£’000
£’000

(394) (37,125)

—
—
—
—

(2,949)

(2,949)
—
—
272
—

(396) (39,802)

—
—
—
—
—

(4,575)

(4,575)
—
—
278
—
—

(229) (44,099)

Total
Equity
£’000

2,267

(2,949)

(3,779)
2,986
29
—
96
1,599

(4,575)

(4,891)
10,718
127
—
—
—
7,553

The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Company

Note

As at 1 January 2014

Other Comprehensive income
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of availablefor-sale investments

17

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Issue of shares
Share based payment expense
Expiry of share options
Issue of warrants

27
27

As at 31 December 2014

Other Comprehensive income
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of availablefor-sale investments

17

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Issue of shares
Share based payment expense
Expiry of share options
Exercise of warrants
Issue of warrants
As at 31 December 2015

24
27
27
27

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
account
£’000

Warrant
reserve
£’000

Share
based
payments
reserve
£’000

1,627

35,905

109

834

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

(828)

—

—

—

—

(828)

149
—
—
—

2,837
—
—
—

—
—
—
96

1,776

38,742

205

591

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

—

—

(483)

—

—

—

—

(483)

454
—
—
23
—
2,253

10,264
—
—
138
(456)
48,688

—
29
(272)
—

Availablefor-sale Accumulated
reserve
losses
£’000
£’000

1,311 (48,785)

—
—

—
—
—
—

(1,959)
—
—

(1,959)
—
—
272
—

483 (50,472)

—
—

(3,583)
—
—

(3,583)

—
—
—
(161)
456

—
127
(278)
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
278
—
—

500

440

— (53,777)

Total
Equity
£’000

(8,999)

(1,959)
—
(828)

(2,787)
2,986
29
—
96
(8,675)

(3,583)
—
(483)

(4,066)
10,718
127
—
—
—
1,896

The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements
Group

Note

Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking
Acquisition of intangible fixed assets
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale investment
Net cash (used in)/from
investing activities

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Company
Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

26

(3,963)

(1,840)

(4,516)

(2,535)

14
15

—
(945)
(252)
371

(485)
(471)
(147)
—

—
(368)
—
—

(558)
—
—
—

17

—

(826)

—

1,182

79

1,182

(368)

624

Financing activities
SEDA backed loan
Proceeds on issue of shares
Finance lease repayments
Loans from directors

(356)
8,769
8
(5)

273
1,736
(249)
5

(356)
8,769
—
—

273
1,736
—
—

Net cash from financing activities

8,416

1,765

8,413

2,009

3,627

4

3,529

98

159
—

164
—

66
—

163

3,693

164

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

163
(27)
3,763

Significant Non Cash movements
1.

The mineral exploration rights in respect of the O’Kiep and Carolusberg project were acquired during 2015 by the
issue of ordinary shares to the value of £1,849k.

2.

A total of £100k of the SEDA backed loan was settled through the issue of ordinary shares.

The notes on pages 26-55 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. General information
Xtract Resources PLC is a Company incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the
registered office is 4th Floor, 2 Cromwell Place, South Kensington, London, SW7 2JE. The nature of the Group’s operations
and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 6 to 12.
These financial statements are presented in Pound Sterling. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies
set out in note 3.

2. Adoption of new and revised Standards
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective
and in some cases have not yet been adopted by the EU. The directors do not expect that the adoption of these standards
will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods, except that IFRS 9 will impact both
the measurement and disclosures of financial instruments and IFRS 15 may have an impact on revenue recognition and
related disclosures. At this point it is not practicable for the directors to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS
9 and IFRS 15 as their detailed review of these standards is still ongoing.

3. Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
adopted by the European Union. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified
for certain items carried at fair value, as stated in the accounting policies. The principal accounting policies adopted are
set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). These consolidated financial statements are made up for the year ended 31 December 2015.
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by
the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Going concern
The operations of the Group are currently financed through a combination of funds which the Company has raised from
shareholders and operating revenues from its operations. An operating loss has been reported as the Group’s assets are
not currently generating significant revenues and the Directors anticipate net operating cash outflows for the next twelve
months from the date of signing these financial statements.
In common with early producing companies, the Company raises finance for its activities in discrete tranches to finance
its activities for limited periods only and further funding will be required from time to time to finance those activities.
The Directors have assessed the working capital requirements for the forthcoming twelve months and have undertaken
the following assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
CONTINUED

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
As at 31 December 2015, the Group held cash balances of £3.8 million and following the completion of the acquisition
of Explorator Limitada on 1st March 2016 for US$12.5 million, the Group has agreed to conditionally sell Explorator Limitada
to Nexus Capital Limited and Mineral Technologies International for US$17.5 million subject to a 55 day due diligence and
to obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. The transaction is scheduled to complete by 31 August 2016.
In the event that the transaction is completed, management believe that the net proceeds after settling any Capital Gains
Tax as well as the final payments in relation to the original acquisition, will be sufficient to continue to meet any liabilities
as and when they fall due for at least 12 months from the signing of these financial statements.
In the event that the transaction is not completed and upon reviewing those cash flow projections for the forthcoming
twelve months, the directors consider that the Company is likely to require additional financial resources in the twelve
month period from the date of approval of these financial statements to enable the Company to fund its current operations
and to meet its commitments. The Directors would then expect for the funds to be raised through a combination of
project finance funding, the current SEDA backed loan note and further equity fund raising.
The Group’s ability to continue its operations is a critical accounting assumption and as a result the directors have concluded
that the uncertainty surrounding the outcome of the above scenarios represents a material uncertainty that casts significant
doubt upon the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and that, therefore, the company may be unable to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Nevertheless, after making enquiries and considering the uncertainties described above, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the company has adequate ability to raise resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. The Directors therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
annual financial statements.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of assets and
liabilities that may be necessary if the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate.

Parent only income statement
Xtract Resources PLC has not presented its own income statement as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.
The loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 was £3,583K (2014: loss £1,958K).

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted
against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with
relevant IFRSs. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognised.
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity are
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
CONTINUED

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS
3 (2008) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of one year.

Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group Company are maintained in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each Group Company are expressed in Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency
of the Company, and the presentational currency for the consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled
entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit
or loss.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. The Group has elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRSs as Sterling denominated assets and liabilities.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Intangible assets
Land acquisition rights and mine development costs
The costs of land acquisition rights in respect of mining projects and mine development are capitalised as intangible
assets. These costs are amortised over the expected life of mine to their residual values using the units-of-production
method using estimated proven and probable mineral reserves.

Intangible exploration and evaluation expenditure assets
The costs of exploration properties and leases, which include the cost of acquiring prospective properties and exploration
rights, are capitalised as intangible assets. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised within exploration and
evaluation properties until such time that the activities have reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of
the existence of commercially exploitable reserves when they are transferred to tangible assets. Capitalised exploration
and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment in accordance with the indicators of impairment as set out in IFRS
6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Reserves. In circumstances where a property is abandoned, the cumulative
capitalised costs relating to the property are written off in the year. Capitalised exploration costs are not amortised.

Property, plant and equipment
Tangible fixed assets represent mining plant and equipment, office and computer equipment and are recorded at cost,
net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the
cost or valuation of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, which is calculated on either a fixed
period or the expected life of mine using the unit of production method, as appropriate.
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The average life in years is estimated as follows:
Office and computer equipment
Plant and machinery

3-10
7-15

Until they are brought into use, fixed assets and equipment to be installed are included within assets under construction
and are not depreciated.
The cost of maintenance, repairs and replacement of minor items of tangible fixed assets are charged to the income
statement as incurred. Renewals and asset improvements are capitalised. Upon sale or retirement of tangible fixed assets,
the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the financial statements. Any resulting gains or losses
are included in the income statement.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalue amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at
fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’
(FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Available-for-sale financial assets (‘AFS’)
Listed and unlisted equity instruments held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as being AFS
and are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment losses that are
recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The fair value of
investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid
prices at the closure of business on the statement of financial position date. For investments where there is no active
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions, reference to the current market value, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.
The fair value of AFS monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in the foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the balance sheet date. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to be settle within 12 months, otherwise, they are
classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for shortterm receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.
For listed and unlisted equity instruments classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets objective evidence of impairment could include:
G

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

G

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

G

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable changes in the national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.
With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through the profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

De-recognition of financial assets
The Group de-recognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks or rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset, and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset, and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
Inventory
Inventories consist of gold concentrate (finished product) and ore stockpiles which represent the ore which has been
extracted and available for further processing. All inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs
of concentrate include material, direct mining costs, and cost related to the production processes. Net Realisable value is
the estimated future sales price of the product the Company is expected to realise after the product is processed and sold
less costs to bring the product to sale. Where inventories have been written down to net realisable value, a new
assessment is made in the following period. In instances where there has been change in circumstances which
demonstrates an increase in the net realisable value, the amount written down will be reversed.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to certain Directors, employees and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set
out in note 27.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the
effect of non-market-based vesting conditions.

Finance Income
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets). Interest income
is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
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Operating Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Finance Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in the finance lease obligation. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. Non-current assets under finance leases are depreciated over the useful life of the asset,
under the reasonable expectation that the group will obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term.

Reclamation cost and mine closure provision
The Group records a liability and corresponding asset for the present value of the estimated costs of legal and constructive
obligations for future site reclamation and closure where the liability is probable and reasonable estimate can be made
of the obligation. The estimated present value of the obligation is reassessed on an annual basis or where new material
information becomes available. Increases or decreases to the obligation usually arise due to change in legal or regulatory
requirements, the extent of environmental remediation required, methods of reclamation, cost estimates, or discount
rates. The present value is determined based on current market assessments of the time value of money using discount
rates specific to the country in which the reclamation site is located and is determined as the risk- free rate of borrowing
approximated by the yield on sovereign debt for that country, with a maturity approximating the end of mine life.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can
be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding
discounts, rebates and sales tax or duty. Revenue from sales of concentrate, which is the Group’s sole source of turnover,
is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, which is considered to occur
when title passes to the customer. This occurs when the concentrate is physically transferred on the date of shipment.
Interest is recognised in profit and loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”). The CEO is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.
Fair value estimation
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:
G

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

G

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

G

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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The following table presents the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value. The Group does not have any liabilities
measured at fair value.
2015

2014

Level 2
£000

Level 3
£000

Total
£000

Level 2
£000

Level 3
£000

Total
£000

Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
– Derivative financial instruments

—

—

—

—

570

570

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
36

—

36

Total assets

—

—

—

36

570

606

The Group does not hold any financial instruments in Level 1.

(i)

Financial instruments in Level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available, and rely as little possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value
an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:
G

quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and

G

the fair value of derivative financial instrument is calculated based on the Company’s quoted market price and a
prescribed formula in accordance with the respective equity swap

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

(ii)

Financial instruments in Level 3

Specific criteria used to estimate the value financial instruments include:
G

management’s assessment of the applicable market and sector;

G

financial reports and other information supplied the investee’s management; and

G

transactions in the investee’s shares

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The following are the critical judgements that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Available for sale investments
The Group reviews the fair value of its unquoted equity instruments at each statement of financial position date. This
requires management to make an estimate of the fair value of the unquoted securities in the absence of an active market,
which has mainly been established by use of recent arm’s length transactions, as adjusted by a discount, where required.
Uncertainty also exists due to the early stage of development of certain of the investments. The fair value of available
for sale investments at 31 December 2015 is determined to be £Nil (2014: £570K). Further details are given in note 17.

Impairment of intangible assets and investments
The assessment of intangible assets for any indications involves judgement. If an indication of impairment, as defined in
IFRS 6 or IAS 36 as appropriate, exists, a formal estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss
recognised to the extent that carrying amount exceeds recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is determined as the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The calculation of recoverable amount requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the intangible assets are allocated. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

Estimates in determining the life of the mines (LOM)
The LOM is determined from development plans based on mine management’s estimates and includes total mineral
reserve and a portion of the mineral resource. These plans are updated from time to time and take into consideration the
actual current cost of extraction, as well as certain forward projections. These projections are reviewed by the board.

Estimates in determining inventory value
Net realisable value tests are performed at the reporting date and represent the estimated future sales price of the
product the entity expects to realise when the product is sold less costs to bring the product to sale. Ore stockpiles are
measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile and are assessed primarily through
surveys and assays.

Share-based payments
The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model and consideration
as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen. The Group has made estimates as to the volatility of its own
shares, the probable life of options granted and the time of exercise of those options. The model used by the Group is
the Black-Scholes model.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
The fair value of the equity swaps is calculated using the prescribed formula in the equity swap agreement and the
Company’s prevailing market price at the year end.
Equity swaps have a carrying value of £Nil (2014: £36k). The loss on re-measuring to fair value is recognised under
finance costs in the Income Statement.
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5. Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
Group
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Revenue
Concentrate Revenue

350

1,144

Total Revenue

350

1,144

6. Investment revenue and other gains and losses
An analysis of the Group’s investment revenue and other gains and losses is as follows:
Group
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Other income

610

—

Total other gains/(losses)

610

—

A gain of £338k relates to the disposal of the Mejillones property and gains of £272k on loans payable by the Company
to Polar Star Mining Corporation that were written off during the year.

7. Segmental Analysis
During the year the Group operated in gold & precious metal mining which has a separate operational segment within
the group structure and maintains an investment & other segment. These divisions are the basis on which the Group
reports its primary segment information to its CEO, who is the Chief Operating Decision maker of the Group. The CEO is
responsible for allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance.
Principal activities are as follows:
G

Operating gold & precious metal mining segment since March 2014

G

Investment and other – in various unlisted resource companies including available-for-sale assets.
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Segment results
Year ended 31 December 2015

Segment revenue

Concentrate revenue
Less: Cost of sales

Investment
and Other
(Continuing)
£’000

—
—

Gold
Production
(Continuing)
£’000

Total
£’000

350
(288)

350
(288)

Segment Gross profit
Administrative and operating expenses
Project costs

—
(1,452)
(147)

62
(974)
—

62
(2,426)
(147)

Segment results

(1,599)

(912)

(2,511)

Other gains and losses
Finance income/(costs)
Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment of financial assets available for sale

436
177
(2,217)
(86)

174
(548)
—
—

610
(371)
(2,217)
(86)

(Loss)/profit before tax

(3,289)

(1,286)

(4,575)

Tax credit
(Loss)/profit for the year

—

—

(3,289)

(1,286)

Investment
and Other
(Continuing)
£’000

Oil & Gas
Exploration
(Discontinued –
post cessation
costs)
£’000

—
(4,575)

Year ended 31 December 2014

Segment Revenue
Concentrate revenue
Less: Cost of Sales

Total
£’000

—
—

1,144
(910)

1,144
(910)

—

234

234

Administrative and operating expenses
Project costs

(1,610)
(205)

(733)
—

(2,343)
(205)

Segment result

(1,815)

(499)

(2,314)

(452)
—

(183)
—

(635)
—

(2,267)

(682)

(2,949)

Finance income/(costs)
Other gains and losses
(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax credit
(Loss)/profit for the year
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2015
£’000

2014
£’000

6,503
5,300

6,802
825

Consolidated total assets

11,853

7,627

Liabilities
Gold production
Investment & other

(3,706)
(594)

(4,635)
(1,393)

Consolidated total liabilities

(4,300)

(6,028)

Balance sheet
Total assets
Gold production
Investment & other

Geographical information
The following table provides information about the Group’s segment revenues by geographical location:

Chile
United Kingdom

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

350
—

1,144
—

350

1,144

The company currently sell its concentrate to Empres Nacional De Minera in Chile which accounts for the Group’s entire
revenue.
The following table provides information about the Group’s segment assets by geographical location:

Chile
United Kingdom

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

6,553
5,300

6,802
825

11,853

7,627

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs including directors’ salaries,
investment revenue and finance costs, and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the Group’s Board for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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8. Profit/(loss) from continuing operations
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations for the year has been arrived at after charging the following under administrative
and operating expenses:

Note

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

15
14
27

138
185
127

85
289
29

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

36
3

36
—

2

2

Total audit fees

41

38

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and its associates for other services:
– other assurance services relating to interim reporting
– tax compliance

3
—

3
—

Total non-audit fees

3

3

44

41

Year ended
31 December
2015
No.

Year ended
31 December
2014
No.

86

78

£’000

£’000

1,116
48
—

1,422
69
—

1,164

1,491

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
Share-based payments expense
There has been no research and development costs during the year.

9. Auditors remuneration
The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for the
audit of the Group’s annual accounts
Under provision for the prior year
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for the
audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

Total auditors’ remuneration

10. Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees (including directors) was:

The aggregate employee (including directors) remuneration comprised:
Salaries and fees
Social security cost
Other pension costs

The above staff costs include labour costs of £143k (2014: £365k), which have been capitalised as Mine Development
Costs and £69k (2014: £Nil) which have been capitalised to property, plant and equipment.
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Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

323
—

315
—

323

315

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

277
8
86
—
—

165
48
18
308
96

371

635

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Corporation tax:
Current year
Adjustments in respect of prior years

—
—

—
—

Total current tax
Deferred tax

—
—

—
—

—

—

The aggregate directors’ remuneration comprised:
Salaries and fees
Other pension costs

Total remuneration for the highest paid Director in the year was £138k (2014: £120k).

11. Finance (income)/cost

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses
Bank Charges
Loan interest payable
Finance charges
Cost of issue of warrants

12. Tax

UK corporation tax is calculated at 20.25% of the estimated assessable loss for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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12. Tax (continued)
The Group tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss per the income statement as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Loss before tax from continuing operations

(4,575)

(2,949)

Loss before tax

(4,575)

(2,949)

(926)
475
450
(1)

(634)
—
639
(5)

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses carried forward
Difference in overseas tax rates

—

—

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

Tax charge/(credit) for the year

13. Profit/(loss) per share
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

(Loss) for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) being:
Net (loss) for the year from continuing operation attributable to
equity holders of the parent

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of basic EPS
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares-options and warrants
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for purposes of diluted EPS

(4,575)

(2,949)

(4,575)

(2,949)

Number of shares

Number of shares

6,474,957,673
—
6,474,957,673

3,403,266,982
—
3,403,266,982

In accordance with IAS 33, the share options and warrants do not have a dilutive impact on earnings per share, which
are set out in the consolidated income statement. Details of shares issued since the year end are shown in note 30 to
the financial statements.
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14. Intangible assets
Land acquisition
costs
£’000

Development
Reclamation &
expenditure mine closure costs
£’000
£’000

Mineral
exploration
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2014
Additions – at fair value
– at cost

—
4,184
—

—
—
471

—
266
—

—
—
—

—
4,450
471

As at 31 December 2014

4,184

471

266

—

4,921

Additions – at cost
Impairment – Mineral Right
Disposals
As at 31 December 2015

—
—
—

578
—
(33)

—
—
—

2,217
(2,217)
—

2,795
(2,217)
(33)

4,184

1,016

266

—

5,466

—
246
246
117
363

—
28
28
61
89

—
15
15
7
22

—
—
—
—
—

—
289
289
185
474

Net Book value at
31 December 2014

3,938

443

251

—

4,632

Net book value at
31 December 2015

3,821

927

244

—

4,992

Amortisation
At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
As at 31 December 2014
Charge for the year
As at 31 December 2015

On 27 March 2015, the Company signed a Deed of Assignment (“DoA”) with Mineral Technologies International Limited
(“MTI”) which provided the Company with an option to acquire a sulphide copper tailings project on surface in the Northern
Cape Province of South Africa (the “Project”). Under the DoA MTI assigned all its rights, title, interest and obligations
under, in and to the Slime Dumps Agreement it signed with the O’Kiep Copper Company (Pty) Ltd (‘OCC’) to the Company.
The Project consists of the Carolusberg and O’Kiep tailings dams which contain 33.8Mt of sulphide tailings material on
surface that was mined between 1980 and 2010 by O’Kiep Copper Company. The Carolusberg tailings dam represents 28Mt
of material grading at 0.19% Cu and the O’Kiep tailings dam represents 5.8Mt of material grading at 0.23% Cu. Both
tailings dams are located close to the town of Springbok (within a 30km radius) in the Northern Cape Province of South
Africa.
On 3 February 2016, the Company received the results from the metallurgical and recovery test laboratory and following
a detailed evaluation and concluded that the recoveries were too low to produce a viable copper concentrate. The Board
therefore elected not to move ahead with this tailings project and the total costs have been impaired as at 31 December
2015.
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15. Property, plant and equipment
Cost or fair value on acquisition of subsidiary
Mining plant &
equipment
£’000

Land & Buildings
£’000

Furniture & Fittings
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2014
Additions – at fair value
– at cost
As at 31 December 2014
Additions – at cost

—
1,043
124
1,167
250

—
80
23
103
—

—
10
—
10
2

—
1,133
147
1,280
252

At 31 December 2015

1,417

103

12

1,532

Depreciation
At 1 January 2014
Charge for period

—
73

—
9

—
3

—
85

At 31 December 2014

73

9

3

85

Charge for period

124

10

4

138

At 31 December 2015

197

19

7

223

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2014

1,094

94

7

1,195

At 31 December 2015

1,220

84

5

1,309

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

19,686
—

17,878
1,808

19,686

19,686

At 1 January – Impairment
Impairment during the year

17,878
—

17,878
—

At 31 December – Impairment

17,878

17,878

1,808

1,808

16. Subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries

At 1 January – Cost
Additions during the year

At 31 December – Net Book Value
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16. Subsidiaries (continued)
The impairments in prior periods relate to the relinquishing of licenses and other losses arising from the discontinuation
of oil and gas exploration activities by three subsidiaries.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2015 are as follows:
Place of
Incorporation
and Operation

Date controlling
interest acquired

Sermines de Mexico S.A. de C.V.
Mexico
Xtract International Limited
England and Wales
Xtract Energy Spain SL
Spain
Xtract Energy Holdings Limited England and Wales
Elko Energy Inc.
Canada
Elko Energy A/S
Denmark
RPK Finance & Holdings BV
The Netherlands
Elko Energy BV
The Netherlands
Elko Exploration BV
The Netherlands
Polar Mining (Barbados) Limited
Barbados
Minera Polar Limitada
Chile

08/08/2005
15/11/2006
10/09/2009
03/12/2007
11/01/2010
11/01/2010
11/01/2010
11/01/2010
11/01/2010
03/03/2014
03/03/2014

Name

Proportion of
ownership &
voting power held
Group % Parent %

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Principal Activity

100
100
100
100
—
—
100
—
—
100
100

Dormant
Dormant
Not Trading
Dormant
Not Trading
Not Trading
Holding Company
Not Trading
Not Trading
Holding Company
Operating Company

All of these subsidiaries have been consolidated for the period of ownership.

17. Available-for-sale investments
Group
As at
31 December
2015
£’000

Opening balance
Additions
Movement in fair value
Disposed of during the year

570
—
(570)
—
—

Company
As at
31 December
2014
£’000

2,580
—
(828)
(1,182)
570

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

570
—
(570)
—
—

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

2,580
—
(828)
(1,182)
570

At 31 December 2015, the Company held 2,371,365 shares in a non-listed entity which management have valued at £Nil
(2014: £570k) an additional 1.5 million shares would be issued to the Company if, the entity listed on any Stock Exchange
or other market. Management have assessed financial and other information available to them have decided to impair
their investment. There is no active share market on which the shares can be traded, and given the sustained low oil prices
management feel that it is unlikely that the entity will achieve a listing which would enable the Company to realise value
from their investment.
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18. Trade and other receivables
Group

Other debtors
Prepayments

Company

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

86
1,658

994
37

131
1,499

26
37

1,744

1,031

1,630

63

19. Inventories
Group

Gold Concentrate
Stock Pile

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

17
28

—
—

45

—

20. Derivative Financial Instruments – group and Company
Equity swaps
Derivative financial instruments of £Nil (2014: £36K) comprise amounts receivable pursuant to an equity swap agreement
to be settled across 12 monthly payments based on a formula related to the difference between the prevailing market
price of the Company’s ordinary shares in any month and a benchmark share price of 0.2185 pence. The net funds to be
received by the Company are dependent on the future performance price of the Company’s ordinary shares.
The Company has given YAGM customary warranties and indemnities in terms of the Equity Swap Agreement. YAGM has
agreed that it and its affiliates will not hold any net short position in respect of the Company’s ordinary shares.

21. Deferred tax
At the balance sheet date, the Group has available unused tax losses as follows:

Country
United Kingdom
Canada
Netherlands
Denmark
Barbados
Chile
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As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

8,143
4,013
959
5,919
193
13,357

6,819
4,720
400
2,501
174
7,972
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21. Deferred tax (continued)
No deferred tax asset is recognised on the above losses as there is insufficient evidence that taxable profits will arise in
the foreseeable future. If unutilised, the Canadian losses will expire between 2016 and 2031. All other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely and may be recoverable if suitable taxable profits arise in future periods.

22. Trade and other payables
Group

Trade creditors and accruals
Land option instalments
Amounts due to subsidiaries
SEDA backed loan

Company

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

1,107
2,448
—
—

2,512
1,207
—
462

536
—
8,491
—

901
—
9,953
462

3,555

4,181

9,027

11,316

Standby Equity Distribution (SEDA)
On 20 May 2015 the Company announced it had drawn down £0.47 million from its existing SEDA with YAGM and had
primarily deployed these funds to repay the full outstanding balance of the Loan Agreement. In accordance with the
terms of the SEDA, which was extended on 18 November 2014 to 30 November 2016. The Company issued YAGM with
149,253,731 new Ordinary Shares at a price of 0.312p each. As at 31 December 2015, the Company had no debt
outstanding pursuant to the Loan Agreement, which remains in place with US$3.95 million available for draw down. In
addition the Company terminated the Equity Swap Agreement entered into with YAGM on 12 December 2013 and received
net proceeds of £0.08 million.

SEDA Backed Loan
On 12 December 2013, the Company and YAGM entered into a loan note agreement pursuant to which YAGM agreed to
issue an unsecured loan of a principal amount of up to US$5 million to the Company. The note carries an interest of 12%
per annum and each tranche is repayable in 12 monthly instalments. The Company pays 8% of each drawn tranche as
an implementation fee. An initial tranche of US$0.30 million was drawn down by the Company on 12 December 2013
and further tranches of US$0.25 million and US$0.50 million on the 18 November 2014 and 21 November 2014
respectably.
The Company and YAGM may mutually agree to draw down additional tranches and may redeem the loan note plus all
interest at any time over the life of the note.

Land Option Instalments
The Land Option Instalments represents the staged payments amounts due.
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23. Non-current liabilities
Group

Company

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

As at
31 December
2015
£’000

As at
31 December
2014
£’000

—
312
167
266

1,186
314
81
266

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

745

1,847

—

—

Number of
shares

£’000

Number of
Shares

£’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares
of 0.01 pence each
At 1 January
Shares issued in the year

3,830,599,981
4,772,903,541

1,776
477

2,339,181,216
1,491,418,765

1,627
149

At 31 December

8,603,503,522

2,253

3,830,599,981

1,776

Land option instalments
Other payables
Provisions
Reclamation and mine closure provision

24. Share capital
2015

2014

Share issue
In March 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £1.75 million. An
additional 1,166,666,667 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.15p per ordinary share.
In April 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £3 million. An additional
1,200,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.25p per ordinary share.
In May 2015, the Company issued a total of 228,624,551 ordinary shares for a total of £161k through the exercise of Broker
warrants.
In May 2015, the Company drew down £465k on it SEDA and resulted in the issuance of an additional 149,253,731
ordinary shares at a price of 0.312p per ordinary share.
In May 2015, The Company issued 69,752,768 ordinary shares at a price of 0.342p per ordinary share to Mineral Technology
International, for total consideration of £238k as a payment towards to acquisition of the O’Kiep Copper Sulphide tailings
project in the Northern Cape province of South Africa.
In July 2015, the Company completed a subscription of equity by certain investors amounting to £4.4 million. An additional
1,466,666,665 ordinary shares were issued at a price of 0.30p per ordinary share.
In July 2015, the Company issued a further 491,939,159 ordinary shares to Mineral Technology International at a price of
0.032p per ordinary share for a total consideration of £1,611k as a final payment towards the O’Kiep Copper Sulphide
tailings project.
The Company has one class of ordinary shares, which carry no right to fixed income.
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24. Share capital (continued)
Options and Warrants (see note 27)
The following options were issued during the year:
G

Issued 31 July 2015 – 70,000,000 exercisable at 0.25p per share

The following warrants were issued during the year:
G

Issued 27 March 2015 – 55,666,667 exercisable at 0.15p per share

G

Issued 7 May 2015 – 60,000,000 exercisable at 0.25p per share

G

Issued 26 June 2015 – 73,333,333 exercisable at 0.30p per share

The following share options expired during the year:
G

Issued 15 July 2010 – 21,700,000 exercisable at 1.8p per share

G

Issued 15 July 2010 – 6,160,000 exercisable at 3.7p per share

G

Issued 15 July 2010 – 1,312,500 exercisable at 3.7p per share

The following warrants were exercised during the year
G

Issued 12 September 2012 – 172,957,884 exercisable at 0.045p per share

G

Issued 19 May 2015 – 55,666,667 exercisable at 0.15p per share

All of the above share options and warrants entitle the holder to one fully paid share in the Company upon payment of
the exercise price per share.

25. Reserves
Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the costs relating to share-based payments issued to employees
and officers of the group.

Warrant reserve
The warrant reserve is used to represent the costs relating to share warrants issued to the Company’s brokers and lenders.

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve is used to recognise fair value movements on available-for-sale investments until they are
disposed of, or become impaired.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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26. Notes to the cash flow statement
Group
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

(Loss) for the year
Adjustments for:

Continuing Operations
Finance costs
Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment of available for sale investment
Other losses/(gains)
Other payables
Gain on disposal of intangible fixed assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Share-based payments expenses
Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in payables

(4,575)

84
2,217
86
(27)
—
(338)
138
186
127

Company
Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

(2,949)

76
—
—
44
—
—
85
289
29

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

(3,583)

(5)
2,217
86
—
—
—
—
—
127

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

(1,959)

64
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
29

(2,102)
(45)
(1,546)
(437)

(2,426)
—
(60)
648

(1,158)
—
(1,567)
(1,791)

(1,866)
—
(32)
(637)

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid
Foreign currency exchange differences

(4,130)

(1,838)
—
(2)

(4,516)

(2,535)
—
—

Net cash used in operating activities

(3,963)

(1,840)

(4,516)

167

—

(2,535)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with a maturity of three months
or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair value.
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27. Share-based payments
Options/Warrants
The Company has issued share options and to certain employees and officers of the Group, along with external third
parties and warrants to the Company’s brokers for costs directly associated with share issuance. All share options/warrants
vest immediately or within three years of the issue date. If the share options/warrants remain unexercised after the
relevant time period from the date of grant the share options/warrants expire.
Details of the Company’s share options/warrants outstanding during the year are as follows.
Year ended 31 December 2015
Number of
share
options/
warrants

Year ended 31 December 2014

Weighted
average
exercise
price
£

Weighted
average
exercise
price
£

Number of
share
options/
warrants

386,984,955
259,000,000
(228,624,551)
(29,172,500)

0.0037
0.0029
0.0007
0.023

338,486,384
68,378,571
—
(19,880,000)

0.0060
0.0060
—
0.029

Outstanding at the end of the year

388,187,904

0.0035

386,984,955

0.0037

Exercisable at the end of the year

353,187,904

0.0037

386,984,955

0.0037

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Expired during the year

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2015 had a weighted average exercise price of £0.0035 (2014: £0.0037),
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.38 years (2014: 4.53years). All share options issued to directors and
employees are recognised as an expense in the income statement over the vesting period of the options. During the year
a total of 228,624,551 (2014: Nil) warrants issued to brokers directly associated with prior share issuances were exercised
at a weighted average price of £0.0007 (2014: Nil).
Share-options have been valued using the Black-Scholes model, or where indicated the ‘direct’ method as follows:
No of
warrants/
options
issued
(000)

Fair
Value
(£’000)

27 March 2015

55,666

83,5

0.0015

0.0015

64.68

1

0.25

0

7 May 2015

60,000

150

0.0025

0.0025

64.68

1

0.25

0

26 June 2015

73,333

220

0.0030

0.0030

64.68

1

0.25

0

31 July 2015

70,000

175

0.0025

0.0025

64.68

5

0.25

0

Date of issue

Share
price
(£)

Strike
price
(£)

Expected
volatility
(%)

Expected
life
(years)

Expected
Risk free
rate
(%)

dividend
yield
(%)

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous year.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted; based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of nontransferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.
The total charge in the year to the income statement was £127k (2014: £29k). The total amount recognised in equity by
the Group relating to share-based payments at the Balance Sheet date is £440k (2014: £591k) in the share based
payments reserve after the reversal of expired and lapsed share options, and £500k (2014: £205k) in the warrants reserve.
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28. Financial instruments
Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concern. The Group
is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained
earnings.
The Group manages its liquidity through raising finance to finance its activities for limited periods until further funding is
required in order to provide for any shortfall in working capital and operating costs.
The group will also look at a combination project funding where necessary as well as drawing down from its SEDA backed
loan.

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability
and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3.

Categories of financial instruments
The Group calculates the fair value of assets and liabilities by reference to amounts considered to be receivable or payable
at the balance sheet date.
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities, which approximate their fair values are as follows:
Book value

Group
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss – derivative
financial instruments

Financial liabilities – measured at
amortised cost
Trade and other payables
SEDA backed loan
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Fair value

December
2015
£’000

December
2014
£’000

December
2015
£’000

December
2014
£’000

3,763
—
87

163
570
994

3,763
—
87

163
570
994

—

36

—

36

3,850

1,763

3,850

1,763

3,555
—

3,719
462

3,555
—

3,719
462

3,555

4,181

3,555

4,181
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, other than trade receivables and payables, which approximate their fair
values are as follows:
Book value

Company
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss – derivative
financial instruments

Financial liabilities – measured at
amortised cost
Trade and other payables
InterCompany loans
SEDA backed loan

Fair value

December
2015
£’000

December
2014
£’000

December
2015
£’000

December
2014
£’000

3,693
—
131

163
570
26

3,693
—
131

163
570
26

—

36

—

36

3,824

795

3,824

795

536
8,491
—

901
9,953
462

536
8,491
—

901
9,953
462

9,027

11,316

9,027

11,316

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 30 days. Other payables are to be settled within
the next 12 months, as and when they become due.

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of foreign currency exchange rates. The Group applies a
continuous review process to manage its exposure to foreign currency and equity price risk:
G

The respective exchange rates of the currencies for which the Group holds significant balances are monitored on a
daily basis; and

G

Known cash requirements in the respective currencies in which the Group transacts are matched against cash
reserves and any shortfalls are addressed through transfers throughout the longest practical timeframes in order to
minimise as best as possible foreign currency risk.

G

strategies are updated on a regular basis to reflect actual market data and the changing needs of the business;

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies and consequently exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise.
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities (including
tax liabilities) at the reporting date are as follows:
Liabilities

Assets

31 December
2015
£’000

31 December
2014
£’000

31 December
2015
£’000

31 December
2014
£’000

10
3
54
3
2,950

462
47
36
2
634

2,484
3
8
2
12

9
8
9
2
139

US dollar
Danish Krone
Euro
Mexican peso
Chilean peso

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the US Dollar, Chilean Peso and Euro currency risk.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in Sterling against the US dollar, Chilean
Peso and Euro. 10% represents management’s assessment of a realistic potential increase or decrease in both exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year-end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in
the profit and other equity where the Sterling strengthens against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity.
US Dollar impact
Dec 2015
£’000

Loss

(225)

Euro impact

Dec 2014
£’000

(41)

Dec 2015
£’000

4

Chilean Peso impact
Dec 2014
£’000

(2)

Dec 2015
£’000

267

Dec 2014
£’000

(45)

Interest rate risk management
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited to its cash and cash equivalents held and is not considered material.

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s principal financial assets are cash deposits and the credit risk on these liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event, which is evidence of a reduction in the
recoverable cash flows.

29. Related party transactions
Group
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated
on consolidation. During the year the Company invoiced fees to subsidiaries within the group amounting to a total of £82k
(2014: £Nil).
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29. Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions with directors
Lion Mining Finance Limited, a Company incorporated in the England and Wales, in which Colin Bird is a Director and
shareholder has provided and continues to provide essential administrative services to the Company to carry out its
operations in a cost efficient manner. The total for services provided during the year amounted to £30K plus VAT. An
amount of £36K was outstanding as at 31 December 2015 (2014: £36k).
During the year Jan Nelson and Joel Silberstein loaned £Nil to the Company respectively (2014: £20k). These loans were
interest free and repayable by mutual agreement. The loan from Jan Nelson was repaid in full during 2014 and an amount
of £5K was repaid to Joel Silberstein during 2015.
The emoluments of the Directors are disclosed in the Directors Report.
The Directors’ shareholding and options are disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors and other staff members, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set
out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. Further information about
the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration section of the Directors’ Report on
page 14.

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination payments
Share-based payments

Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

481
—
—
127

417
—
—
29

608

446

Company
The Company extends and receives intra-group balances in line with its central treasury management policies. The
aggregate amount payable to subsidiary undertakings is disclosed in note 22. The largest three balances arising under
these arrangements were as follows:
Year ended
31 December
2015
£’000

Xtract International Limited
Elko Energy Inc.
Minera Polar Limitada

(10,753)
(518)
2,728

Year ended
31 December
2014
£’000

(10,753)
(580)
1,347

During the year there has been an increase in the amount due to the Company primarily due to costs that have been
settled on behalf of subsidiary companies.

54

Xtract Resources PLC Annual Report 2015

Notes to the Financial Statements
CONTINUED

30. Events after the balance sheet date
Acquisition of Manica Gold Project
On 1 March 2016 the Company announced that it had received final approval under the Mozambique Mining Act from
the Mozambican mining authorities to complete the 100% acquisition of the Manica Gold Project in Mozambique.
The Company also announced that following discussions with Auroch both parties had agreed to revise the terms of the
Transaction, which was expected to occur on 1 March 2016.
Under the revised terms the Company will:
G

The Company would pay the Consideration Cash of US$3.0 million to Auroch (“Completion”).

G

Issue Auroch 1,137,258,065 new Ordinary Shares, to the value of US$4.4 million shares at Completion (“Consideration
Shares”). The disposal of the Consideration Shares is subject to an orderly market arrangement and will have no lock
in period.

G

Pay Auroch US$2.5 million three months after Completion. A total of US$1.3 million will be payable in cash and the
remaining US$1.2 million will, at Auroch’s election, be payable either in Ordinary Shares, issued at a 20% discount
to the 10 day VWAP prior to the election or cash.

G

The date for the fulfillment of all conditions regarding the Transaction would be extended from 29 February 2016
to 31 March 2016 to facilitate payment of the Consideration Cash and admission to trading on AIM of the
Consideration Shares.

G

In addition to the above, the Company had assumed the responsibility to settle the remaining portion of the
US$1 million relating to Manica project creditors.

On 26 May 2016 the Company announced that it had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement (the
“Agreement”) to sell the Manica Gold project in Mozambique to Nexus Capital Limited (“Nexus”) and Mineral Technologies
International Limited (“MTI”) (together the “Purchasers”) for a cash consideration of US$17.5 million. Under the Agreement,
Xtract will sell its 100% interest in Explorator Limitada (“Explorator”), the entity which holds title to the Manica Gold
Project to the Purchasers at completion.
The completion accounts have not been finalised and the full IFRS 3 disclosures are therefore not practicable.

YAGM Draw down
On 10 May 2016, the Company drew down US$2.4 million from its existing facility with YA Global Master SPV, Ltd (the
“Facility”). The Funds were to primarily be used to fund completion of the Manica Bankable Feasibility Study.
A total of US$1.5 million remains available for drawdown from the Facility.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2016 Annual General Meeting of Xtract Resources Plc will be held at the offices of
Fladgate LLP, 16 Great Queen Street, London WC2B 5DG on Thursday, 30 June 2016 at 11:00 for the purpose of considering,
and if thought fit, passing the following resolutions of which resolutions 1 to 4 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions
and resolution 5 will be proposed as a special resolution.

Ordinary Business
Resolution 1
To receive and adopt the directors’ report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, together with
the auditors’ report thereon.

Resolution 2
To re-elect Mr. P L Moir as a director of the Company who retires by rotation and offers himself for re-election.

Resolution 3
To appoint Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors of the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company and to authorise the directors to determine their
remuneration.

Resolution 4
That for the purposes of section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”), the directors of the Company be and are
hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers of the Company to issue and allot or grant equity
securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £995,476.16 provided
that this authority shall expire (unless previously renewed, varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting) at the
earlier of the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or 30 June 2017 save that the Company
may before such expiry make an offer or agreement, which would or might require equity to be allotted after such expiry
and the directors of the Company may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority
conferred hereby had not expired. This authority is in substitution for any and all authorities previously conferred upon
the directors for the purposes of section 551 of the Act, without prejudice to any allotments made pursuant to the terms
of such authorities.

Special Business
Resolution 5
That, subject to and conditional upon the passing of resolution 4 above, the directors of the Company be and hereby
empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”) to allot equity securities (within the meaning
of section 560 of the Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 4 as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to
any such allotment PROVIDED THAT the power conferred by this resolution shall be limited to:
5.1

the allotment of equity securities for cash in connection with an issue or offer of equity securities (including, without
limitation, under a rights issue, open offer or similar arrangement) to holders of equity securities in proportion (as
nearly as may be practicable) to their respective holdings of equity securities subject only to such exclusions or
other arrangements as the directors of the Company may consider necessary or expedient to deal with fractional
entitlements or legal or practical problems under laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body
or stock exchange in any territory;
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5.2

the allotment of equity securities for cash up to an aggregate nominal value of £74,418.79 in connection with the
exercise of options and warrants that have been granted by the Company to subscribe for ordinary shares in the
Company; and

5.3

the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 above) of equity securities for cash up to an
aggregate nominal value of £974,076.16

The power conferred by this resolution 5 shall expire (unless previously renewed, revoked or varied by the Company in
General Meeting), at such time as the general authority conferred on the directors of the Company by resolution 4 above
expires, except that the Company may at any time before such expiry make any offer or agreement which would or
might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors of the Company may allot equity securities
in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

6 June 2016
By order of the Board

St James’s Corporate Services Limited
Company Secretary
4th Floor
2 Cromwell Place
South Kensington
London
SW7 2JE
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Notes:
1.

Any member of the Company who is entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled
to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any of his/her rights to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting.
A member may appoint more than one proxy, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached
to different shares held by the member. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the
Annual General Meeting to represent you. Details of how to appoint the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting
or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out in the notes to the proxy form. A member may
not appoint more than one proxy to exercise the rights attached to any one share. Appointing a proxy will not
prevent a member from attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting in person if they so wish.

2.

A form of proxy is enclosed for use in relation to the Annual General Meeting. To be valid and effective, the form
of proxy and any power of attorney or other authority under which it is executed (or a notarially certified copy of
such authority) must be deposited, duly completed, signed and dated, at the offices of the Company’s registrars,
Capita Asset Services, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the Annual General Meeting or any adjournment thereof. If a form of proxy is returned without an
indication as to how your proxy shall vote on any particular resolution, your proxy may vote or abstain as he or she
thinks fit in relation to each such resolution. A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will
not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the resolution. If you either select the “Withheld” option or
no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion.

3.

In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the
appointment submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which
the names of the joint holders appear in the Company’s register of members in respect of the joint holding (the firstnamed being the most senior).

4.

To change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy appointment using the methods set out in these
notes and the notes to the proxy form. To revoke your proxy you will need to inform the Company in writing by
sending a hard copy notice clearly stating your intention to revoke your proxy appointment to the Company’s
registrars, Capita Asset Services. Note that the cut-off time for receipt of proxy appointments (see 2 above) also
applies in relation to amended instructions or revocation of proxy and any amended proxy instructions or proxy
appointment received after the relevant cut-off time will be disregarded. Where you have appointed a proxy using
the hard-copy proxy form and would like to change the instructions using another hard-copy proxy form, please
contact Capita Asset Services. Where you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received
last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies will take precedence. If you attempt to revoke your proxy
appointment but the revocation is received after the time specified then, subject to you attending the Annual
General Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will remain valid. For the avoidance of doubt, if you have
appointed a proxy and attend the Annual General Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be
terminated.

5.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST Electronic Proxy Appointment Service may
do so for the Annual General Meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST
Manual (available via www.euroclear.com). CREST personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those
CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider, should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service
provider, who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

6.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST
message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with the specifications of
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (“EUI”) and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described
in the CREST manual. The message, regardless of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so
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as to be received by the Company’s agent (CREST ID: RA10) by no later than 11:00 on 28 June 2016 or, in the case
of an adjournment, 48 hours before the time appointed for the reconvened Annual General Meeting. For this purpose,
the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the
CREST Application Host) from which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the
manner prescribed by CREST.
7.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting services providers should note that EUI does
not make available special procedures in EUI for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations
will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member
concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a
voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall
be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in
particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.
The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of
the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

8.

In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, only those members entered in
the register of members of the Company as at close of business on 28 June 2016, and in the case of an adjourned
meeting, two days before such adjourned meeting shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General
Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries in the register
of members after the close of business on 28 June 2016, or if the Annual General Meeting is adjourned, after close
of business on the day two days before the adjourned meeting shall be disregarded in determining the rights of
any person to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting.

9.

Any corporation which is a member of the Company can appoint one or more corporate representative(s) who may
exercise on its behalf all of its powers as a member provided that they do not do so in relation to the same shares.

10.

A member of the Company may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice of meeting or any
related documents (including the proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purpose other than those
expressly stated.

11.

The following documents will be available for inspection: (a) at the registered office of the Company during normal
business hours on any weekday (public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice until the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting; and (b) at the place of the Annual General Meeting from 15 minutes prior to and during
the meeting:

12.

(a)

a copy of the register of directors’ interests in the shares of the Company and its subsidiaries;

(b)

copies of all contracts of service under which directors of the Company are employed by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries;

(c)

copies of the non-executive directors’ letters of appointment; and

(d)

a copy of the articles of association of the Company.

As at 3 June 2016 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this notice), the Company’s issued
share capital consisted of 9,740,761,586 ordinary shares of 0.01 pence each. Each ordinary share carries the right
to one vote at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total number of voting rights in the Company
at such date is 9,740,761,586.
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Explanatory Notes
To the Notice of Annual General Meeting
1.

Directors’ report and accounts (Resolution 1)

This resolution will be proposed as an ordinary resolution. The directors of the Company (the “directors”) are required by
the Act to present to the meeting the directors’ and auditors’ reports and the audited accounts for the year ended
31 December 2015. The report of the directors and the audited accounts have been approved by the directors and the
report of the auditors has been approved by the auditors, and a copy of each of these documents may be found in the
annual report and accounts of the Company.
The value of the Company’s net assets is less than half of its called-up share capital. In such circumstances, the directors
are required under Section 656 of The Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”) to convene a general meeting of the Company
for the purpose of considering whether any, and if so what, steps should be taken to deal with the situation. Accordingly,
this matter will be discussed at the annual general meeting. However, the net assets of the group are more than half of
the called-up share capital of the Company as the liabilities of the Company to its subsidiaries amount in total to
approximately £8.491 million. The directors do not therefore consider that any steps be taken in relation to the matter
as the ability for those subsidiaries to call for the payment of those liabilities is entirely within the control of the Company
and thus the liabilities are not, in the view of the directors, an indicator of financial problems for the Company.]

2.

Director re-election (Resolution 2)

This resolution will be proposed as an ordinary resolution. Article 92 of the Company’s articles of association states that
at each annual general meeting one-third of the directors (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number of
directors nearest to but not greater than one-third, unless their number is fewer than three, in which case one director)
shall retire from office by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. P L Moir is retiring by rotation and offers himself for re-election under
this provision.
Biographical details of all of the directors are set out on pages 13 and 14 of the annual report and accounts of the Company.

3.

Appointment and remuneration of auditors (Resolution 3)

This resolution will be proposed as an ordinary resolution. This resolution proposes the appointment of Crowe Clark
Whitehill LLP as the auditors of the Company and, in accordance with standard practice, gives authority to the directors
to determine their remuneration.

4.

Authority to allot shares (Resolution 4)

This resolution will be proposed as an ordinary resolution. Resolution 4 enables the directors to allot equity securities
(including new ordinary shares). The maximum nominal amount of securities which the board will have authority to allot
pursuant to this resolution is £995,476.16 (such amount equating to the aggregate nominal value of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of this notice plus the number of options outstanding at 31 December 2015). Resolution
4 will, if passed, renew the authority to allot given to the directors at last year’s Annual General Meeting.

5.

Disapplication of pre-emption rights (Resolution 5)

This resolution will be proposed as a special resolution. Resolution 5 is required to authorise the directors to allot equity
securities for cash as if the statutory pre-emption rights in favour of shareholders did not apply, subject to the limitations
set out in Resolution 5 and subject also to the maximum number of shares the directors are authorised to allot in
accordance with Resolution 4. The allotment of shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £974,076.16 in accordance
with paragraph 5.3 of Resolution 5, equates to 100 per cent. of the aggregate nominal value of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this notice.
The authority sought under Resolutions 4 and 5 will expire at the earlier of the conclusion of the annual general meeting
of the Company in 2017 or 30 June 2017.
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